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MDS Financial Group Limited 
ABN 90 091 744 884 
 

MDS Financial Group provides a boutique stockbroking and trading 
software service appealing to a broad spectrum of investors ranging from 
retail and wholesale clients through to institutions. 

Our expansion into wholesale and institutional broking has created 
successful partnering arrangements.  Through the acquisitions of Trader 
Dealer Online Pty Ltd and D2MX Pty Ltd, an ASX listed Participant 
Stockbroker, MDS has developed and refined our general advisory and 
execution service offering.  

Our revived corporate advisory arm has enjoyed success with two  
corporate IPO listings in the 2014 financial year, Sino Australia Oil and 
Gas Limited and Lionhub Group Limited.   

The company has been able to draw on the extensive networks of 
directors in positioning the company to further develop its corporate 
offerings and capital raising expertise. 

The company has continued to align its costs with the prevailing market 
conditions, rationalising our services where appropriate. 

In terms of new opportunities, MDS believes that there is a real 
opportunity for a network of smaller brokers to work harmoniously in 
nurturing the IPO market and we will be exploring that potential in the 
2014-15 year. 

We are deeply conscious of the need to seize new opportunities in both 
our traditional and new services. By focusing on an interrelated strategy, 
MDS Financial Group will seek to develop and nurture strategic 
relationships which will improve the operational activities of the Company 
into the next year.  
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 “improved performance is  
evidence that the company  
has begun to turn the corner ” 
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Group Operating Structure 
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Portfolio of Companies 

D2MX Pty Ltd is an ASX market participant 
providing advisory and trade execution 
services to retail investors, institutional and 
wholesale broker dealer groups. Services 
include: 

• General Advice
• Corporate Advisory
• Institutional Equity Sales
• Wholesale Broking

Trader Dealer Online Pty Ltd is an online trading 
company providing execution-only trading and 
software solutions for clients investing in ASX equities, 
options and warrants.  

Proprietary software platforms include d2mxIRESS 
and Market Analyser. 

Bourse Data Pty Ltd is a software technology 
company that develops, sells and supports 
The Bourse market data platform. 

MDS Financial Services Pty Ltd holds an Australian 
Financial Services License, through which it provides 
corporate advisory and private client services. 

MDSnews is the original holding company, 
owns the IP rights to the Market Analyser 
trading platform, a 11.56% share of Finance 
TV and 100% of Trader Dealer Online.

Finance TV Pty Ltd is one of the largest providers of 
online finance and business video news in Australia 
through the Finance News Network. 

*11.56% ownership
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Chairman’s Report 

Dear Shareholders, 

The Board of MDS Financial Group Ltd has focused on cutting costs and building new lines of business during the 2013 -
14 financial year. While a great deal of work remains to be done, the improved performance is evidence that the 
company has begun to turn the corner. 

The role of the Board is to work with the management team to build shareholder wealth. Subdued volumes of ASX 
trading has made it far from easy for the stockbroking industry as a whole to generate acceptable margins. As a relatively 
small broker, MDS has had to respond more creatively about generating returns for its shareholders. 

We have cut costs. Employee numbers are down, and we have rigorously sought to re-engineer all elements of our 
business. However the reality is that there are fixed costs, and so ultimately the  only strategy that can genuinely 
succeed is to generate new business revenues. 

With the active support of directors, MDS has taken two Asian-focused companies to the IPO market in the past year, 
Sino Australia Oil and Gas Limited, and LionHub Group Limited. We believe that these initial successes will generate a 
pipeline of additional IPOs from Asia in this current year and in the longer term. 

To push forward with these and other revenue-generating initiatives MDS needs far greater resources. The Board 
reviewed a number of potential mergers and acquisitions over the year and it is pleasing to be able to report, at the time 
of writing, that we are engaged in the potential acquisition of the Sequoia Financial Group. 

The directors and senior management of both companies believe that the two businesses are complementary and 
synergistic. A successful merger would greatly accelerate the timeframe under which the shareholders of MDS would 
realise an acceptable return on their patient capital. More details of the potential benefits will be outlined in the 
independent experts report to be circulated to shareholders. 

Through two primary subsidiaries, D2MX Pty Ltd and Trader Dealer Online Pty Ltd, the company is  attracting new 
quality wholesale brokers, institutional funds and retail clients. We are working closely with existing and new clients to 
understand their requirements and how to best service their needs. Naturally our hard-working front line staff are playing 
the key role in this arena.  

In the latter half of the 2014 financial year, the company announced an intention to undertake a rights issue in order to 
strengthen the company’s balance sheet. It was pleasing to report continued shareholder support through full allocation 
of the rights issue raising a total of $1,030,166. The rights issue and associated shortfall has also brought new 
shareholders onto our register and we welcome their support as the company embarks on its new vision and strategy. 

The company will continue to focus on client relationship development and product refinement and on new market 
opportunities. Our improved cash position will give management and directors the opportunity to introduce new business 
initiatives and to focus more creatively on building new product lines. 

The past year has not been an easy time for directors and staff, and I would like to take the opportunity to publicly thank 
them for their hard work and ongoing commitment to the company. I certainly think it is true that what does not break us, 
does makes us stronger, and I believe that MDS has emerged as a better and more resilient company. 

If shareholders support the acquisition of Sequoia, as directors hope, the 2014-15 year will be a literally transformational 
one for the company which will enable it to seize opportunities in a number of business sectors for the benefit of all 
shareholders. 

On behalf of the Board, we wish to thank both shareholders and staff for their ongoing support.  

 

 
 
 
Peter Stirling 
Chairman, MDS Financial Group Ltd 
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Board of Directors 
Peter Stirling 
Chairman and Non – Executive Director 

Peter Stirling has a background in the business media, conferencing and online fields having founded SME business 
magazines including titles such as Franchising and Enterprise. He has extensive experience in the SME field and was a 
driving force behind the expansion of the Australian Small Business Association (ASBA).    

Mr. Stirling has directorships in the dental health field and is a major shareholder in a company that provides a platform 
for the raising of equity capital for small companies, including technology enterprises. 

Richard Symon 
Executive Director 

Prior to joining MDS Financial Richard was the CEO of NSX Ltd (ASX:NSX) the operator of the National Stock 
Exchange, the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now SIM Venture Securities Exchange). He co-founded and was CEO of 
Sharetrade Australian Stockbroking Ltd which was taken over by PBL-listed subsidiary eCorp, and merged to bring 
Charles Schwab to Australia in 2000. 

Richard served in roles as executive director of the Securities and Derivatives Industry Association (now Stockbrokers 
Association of Australia) and the full service stockbroker Prudential-Bache Securities.  Richard is a Fellow of Finsia, 
Master Stockbroker (MSAA), Deputy Chairman of Variety the Children's Charity (Vic) and also Chairman of the Financial 
Services Foundation, a Melbourne-based organisation supporting children's charities. 

Jamie Khoo 
Non-Executive Director 

Ms Khoo brings to MDS Financial over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. Ms Khoo also has 
extensive corporate experience on project financing, company funding, initial public offering, investment evaluations, due 
diligence and structuring. 

Ms Khoo was an Executive Director of Singapore-listed Adventus Holdings Limited (5EF SGX) from Year 2008 till Year 
2010 and over the years has held key positions in STT Communications Ltd and its various subsidiaries, mainly in the 
areas of finance and investments, with ABB Holdings Ltd in Hong Kong and Beijing and with both Ernst & Young 
Singapore and Baker Hughes Group Singapore. 
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Summary of Results 
Operating Performance 
 

Year ended 30 June 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Revenue 
Subscriptions and data fees 1,564 1,873 
Brokerage and commissions 3,068 3,232 
Corporate fees 1,635 595 
Other 224 94 

6,491 5,795 

Expenses 
Data fees 969 1,150 
Dealing and settlement 2,867 1,997 
Employee benefits 1,619 2,019 
Occupancy 348 366 
Telecommunications 203 263 
Marketing 77 112 
General and administrative 1,339 995 
Depreciation and impairment 74 85 
Other 261 165 
Impairment of financial assets (3) 241 
Total Expenses 7,757 7,347 
Tax expense 4 - 
Reported loss after tax (1,260) (1,599) 

The Company’s annual results show 
an improvement on prior years 
performance.  

Increased revenue has occurred due 
to two successful IPO listings. Total 
revenue for the period ending 30 June 
2014 was $6,490,563 (2013: 
$5,794,619). This is a revenue 
improvement of 12% year on year.  

Expenses have increased overall; this 
was the result of higher commission 
rebates payable due to the successful 
IPO transactions. General and 
administration was also up on prior 
year, due to the requirement to 
resolve some long standing internal 
issues.  

Cash Flow 
 

Year ended 30 June 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Cash flows from operations 
Customer receipts 7,075 5,979 
Supplier and employee payments (8,072) (6,905) 
Interest received 4 6 
Interest paid (56) (62) 

Operating cash flow (1,050) (982) 
Cash from investing 

Proceeds from sale of asset 
- 7 

Payment for financial asset (128) - 
Investing cash flow (128) 7 
Cash flow from financing 

Proceeds from borrowings 
750 - 

Proceeds from issue of securities 728 1,479 
Repayment of borrowings - (477) 

Financing cash flow 1,533 1,002 
Total cash flow 300 27 

Opening cash 316 288 

Closing cash 616 315 

The consolidated entity incurred an 
operating outflow of $1,049,785, for 
the year ended 30 June 2014 (2013: 
$982,046). The operating cash flow 
increased year on year due to 
statutory payments made to leaving 
employees and an increase in the 
number of payments due to suppliers.   

Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Total current assets 1,423 1,141 
Total non-current assets 1,614 1,666 
Total assets 3,037 2,808 

Total current liabilities 3,276 2,780 
Total non-current liabilities 24 23 
Total liabilities 3,300 2,803 

Net assets (263) 5 
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Business Review 
 
Broking 

MDS’ wholly owned stockbroker 
D2MX continued to trade 
approximately 1% of ASX transactions 
through the period. Unfortunately 
volume remained subdued through the 
ASX which impacted the segments 
revenue. D2MX continued to increase 
wholesale and institutional trading 
accounts and increased its advisors 
who transferred their clients’ accounts 
to D2MX and begun offering general 
advice. 

Trader Dealer Online, the higher 
margin retail services online broking 
division, continues to increase in 
terms of account openings. Private 
client trading volumes also remained 
subdued through the period consistent 
with the overall market. With cost 
constraints being a prime concern to 
your Directors, minimal marketing 
expenditure was undertaken, as the 
expectation of receiving return on 
investment in the current environment 
was thought to weigh against this 
initiative. 

Data Subscriptions 

Contribution by the data subscription 
division increased to $621,667 
($547,921 for 2013). A price increase 
through the period and adjusting the 
terms of offers to attract brokerage 
commissions by making charting and 
data available assisted the 
improvement. Some clients decided 
not to continue their subscriptions as 

with the most frequent explanation 
being that the sharemarket was not 
buoyant enough for them to get back 
to active trading. 

Through the period, the Group 
introduced Contracts For Difference 
(CFD) trading through the Bourse, 
Market Analyser and D2MXiress 
platforms. The Group became an 
introducing broker with trading 
responsibility with a specialist CFD 
broker. The transaction order can be 
placed through our platforms for 
clients who have opened a CFD client 
account with that broker. The benefit 
to the Group is receipt of additional 
commissions and more importantly the 
ability to market the increased 
capacity of our product to CFD traders 
and white label the service to other 
financial services providers. 
 
Corporate Advisory 

Two initial public offerings were 
completed and increased the pipeline 
of activities mandated for completion 
in the current period. As well as 
receiving fee income, the Group 
received tranches of shares for 
successfully listing the companies on 
ASX. These shares are subject to 
escrow an cannot be sold by the 
Group in the current period. 

The challenge for the Group is to 
directly offer shares in IPO’s to our 
own client base and thus retain all the 
fees earned as a function of the total 
amount subscribed for shares. Our 
experience has been that external 

financial services organisation have 
been sought to assist in the capital 
raising and therefore pay-away fees 
are passed through to those 
organisations reducing the 
contribution to the Group. 

The Group holds 8,000,000 shares in 
Priority One Network Group Ltd as a 
result of corporate advisory services. 
Priority One announced the receipt of 
a 1:1 takeover offer by ASX listed 
Conquest Agri Ltd (ASX:CQA). Refer 
to announcements made by CQA and 
Go Connect Ltd (ASX:GCN) for 
updates. 

Future Developments 

The Group is preparing, to the extent 
possible ahead of completion, for the 
integration of Sequoia Financial Group 
Ltd’s operations into the Group. Since 
the announcement of the Terms Sheet 
on June 26th 2014 both groups have 
been undertaking due diligence, and 
within that process identifying 
synergistic opportunities, whether it be 
cross selling opportunities or 
duplicated cost savings. The Group 
continues to pursue establishing 
relationships to provide financial 
products and services to retail, 
wholesale (e.g. Financial Planners), 
institutions and extending services 
available such as CFDS’. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of MDS Financial Group Limited (“the company”) is responsible for the corporate 
governance of the consolidated entity.  The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the company on 
behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
The table below summarises the company’s compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Revised 
Principles and Recommendations. 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

1.1 Establish the functions reserved 
to the Board and those 
delegated to manage and 
disclose those functions. 

The Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of the company. 

The Board has adopted a Board charter that 
formalises its roles and responsibilities and 
defines the matters that are reserved for the 
Board and specific matters that are delegated 
to management. 

The Board has adopted a Delegations of 
Authority that sets limits of authority for senior 
executives. 

On appointment of a director, the company 
issues a letter of appointment setting out the 
terms and conditions of appointment to the 
Board. 

Complies. 

1.2 Disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of 
senior executives. 

Senior executives prepare strategic objectives 
that are reviewed and signed off by the Board.  
These objectives must then be met by senior 
executives as part of their key performance 
targets.  The chief executive officer (CEO) then 
reviews the performance of the senior 
executives against those objectives.  The 
Board reviews the CEO’s compliance against 
his and the company’s objectives.  These 
reviews occur annually or more frequently as 
required. 

Does not comply as the 
reduction in the number of 
Executive staff has resulted 
in an executive director 
taking on the CEO position 
therefore there is reliance 
and proactive daily 
operational interaction with 
the Board. 

1.3 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 1. 

A Board charter has been disclosed on the 
Company’s website and is summarised in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 

Complies. 

  A performance evaluation process is included 
in the Board Charter, which has been 
disclosed on the company’s website and is 
summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

Complies. 

  The Board conducted a performance 
evaluation for senior executives in the financial 
year in accordance with the process above. 

 

 

 

 

 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 

2.1 A majority of the Board should 
be independent directors 

The majority of the Board’s directors are not 
independent as a majority of the Board are 
either a substantial shareholder or are 
executive directors of the company. 

Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo is an independent 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Peter John Stirling is a Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman but not independent 
due to being a substantial shareholder. 

Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon is an 
Executive Director. 

Does not comply however 
the skills and experience of 
both the independent and 
non-independent directors 
allow the Board to act in 
the best interests of 
shareholders. The Board is 
currently in the process of 
recruiting a suitably skilled 
Independent Director to join 
the Board. 

2.2 The chair should be an 
independent director. 

Peter John Stirling is the Chairman and is an 
Non-Executive Director 

Does not comply due to 
Peter Stirling being a 
substantial shareholder. 

2.3 The roles of the chair and chief 
executive officer should not be 
exercised by the same 
individual. 

Peter John Stirling is the Chairman and Bruce 
Richard Sydney Symon is an Executive 
Director and acting Chief Executive Officer 

Complies. 

2.4 The Board should establish a 
Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. 

The Company has established a separate 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix 
of skills and experience on the Board in light 
of the company’s principal activities and 
direction, and has considered diversity in 
succession planning.  The Board considers 
the current mix of skills and experience of the 
members of the Board and its senior 
management is sufficient to meet the 
requirements of the company. 

The Board supports the nomination and re-
election of the directors at the company’s 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, should 
these directors wish to continue on the Board. 

Complies. 

2.5 Disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of 
the Board, its committees and 
individual directors. 

The company conducts the process for 
evaluating the performance of the Board, its 
committees and individual directors as 
outlined in the Board Charter which is 
available on the company’s website. 

The Board’s induction program provides 
incoming directors with information that will 
enable them to carry out their duties in the 
best interests of the company.  This includes 
supporting ongoing education of directors for 
the benefit of the company. 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

2.6 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2. 

This information has been disclosed (where 
applicable) in the directors’ report attached to 
this Corporate Governance Statement. 

Complies. 

  Jamie Khoo is an independent director of the 
company.  A director is considered 
independent when they substantially satisfy 
the test for independence as set out in the 
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations. 

Members of the Board are able to take 
independent professional advice at the 
expense of the company. 

Peter Stirling, Non Executive Director and 
Chairman was appointed to the Board on 24 
June 2013 and appointed Chairman on 21 
January 2014. 

Richard Symon, Executive Director was 
appointed to the Board in November 2008. 

Jamie Khoo, Independent Non-Executive 
Director was appointed to the Board on 28 
February 2012. 

The company has established separate 
Nominations and Remuneration Committees. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix 
of skills and experience on the Board in light 
of the company’s principal activities and 
direction, and has considered diversity in 
succession planning.  The Board considers 
the current mix of skills and experience of 
members of the Board and its senior 
management is sufficient to meet the 
requirements of the company. 

In accordance with the information suggested 
in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2, the 
company has disclosed full details of its 
directors in the director’s report attached to 
this Corporate Governance Statement.  Other 
disclosure material on the Structure of the 
Board has been made available on the 
company’s website. 

 

The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees 
operate under respective 
separate charters.  In 
addition, the Board does 
not consist of a majority of 
independent directors 
however the skills and 
experience of both the 
independent and non-
independent directors allow 
the Board to act in the best 
interests of shareholders. 

The Board is actively 
seeking an independent 
director to add depth to the 
Board. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

3.1 Establish a code of conduct 
and disclose the code or a 
summary of the code. 

The Board has adopted a code of conduct.  
The code establishes a clear set of values 
that emphasise a culture encompassing 
strong corporate governance, sound business 
practices and good ethical conduct. 

The code is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

3.2 Companies should establish a 
policy concerning diversity and 
disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy.  The 
policy should include 
requirements for the Board to 
establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and for the Board to 
assess annually both the 
objectives and progress in 
achieving them. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the 
mix of skills and experience on the Board in 
light of the company’s principal activities and 
direction. 

The code is available on the company’s 
website. 

The Board has a Diversity Policy which 
acknowledges ‘Merit and Ability’ and 
therefore does not have a formal diversity 
policy. The documentation of the company 
diversity policy can be located on the 
company website.  

Complies. 

 

3.3 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 3. 

On completion and acceptance of a Diversity 
Policy, the company will report in each annual 
report the measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by the Board. 

The company has one female on the board 
and two females in executive positions, 
appointed in accordance with the companies 
above mentioned policies. 

Complies. 

  The company will include in the directors’ 
report the proportion of women employees 
and their position held within the company. 

Number of board members:                       3 

Number of female board members:           1 

Number of senior executive staff:              4 

Number of female senior executive staff:  2 

Female positions held; 

Compliance Manager 

Financial Controller    

          

Complies 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

4.1 The Board should establish 
and audit committee. 

The Board has established an audit 
committee which operates under an audit 
committee charter to focus on issues relevant 
to the integrity of the company’s financial 
reporting. 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

4.2 The audit committee should be 
structured so that it consists of 
only non-executive directors, a 
majority of independent 
directors, is chaired by an 
independent chair who is not 
chair of the Board and have a 
least 3 members.  

Members of the audit committee are Jamie 
Khoo (Chair), and Richard Symon.  Jamie 
Khoo is a independent non-executive director 
and is not chair of the Board.  The committee 
consists of one non-executive director and 
one executive director. 

The audit committee did not comply with 
Recommendation 4.2 in that the committee: 

• did not consist of only non-executive 
directors and; 

• did not consist of a majority of independent 
directors. 

 

Does not comply due to the 
composition of the 
Committee.  However, the 
board considers the 
directors to be the most 
appropriate members to 
constitute the audit 
committee given their 
technical, finance and 
accounting expertise and 
broad knowledge of the 
industry in which the 
company operates. 

4.3 The audit committee should 
have a formal charter. 

The Board has adopted an audit charter. 

This charter is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies.  

4.4 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 4. 

In accordance with the information suggested 
in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4, this has 
been disclosed in the directors report attached 
to this Corporate Governance Statement and 
is summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

The members of the audit committee are 
appointed by the Board and recommendations 
from the committee are presented to the 
Board for further discussion and resolution. 

The audit committee held four meetings during 
the period to the date of the directors’ report 
and meets at least twice per annum. 

The audit charter, and information on 
procedures for the selection and appointment 
of the external auditor, and for the rotation of 
external audit engagement partners (which is 
determined by the audit committee), is 
available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 

5.1 Establish written policies 
designed to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rules 
disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at a 
senior executive level for that 
compliance and disclose those 
policies or a summary of those 
policies. 

The company has adopted a continuous 
disclosure policy, to ensure that it complies 
with the continuous disclosure regime under 
the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

This policy is available on the company’s 
website 

Complies. 

5.2 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5. 

The company’s continuous disclosure policy is 
available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 

6.1 Design a communications 
policy for promoting effective 
communication with 
shareholders and encouraging 
their participation at general 
meetings and disclose that 
policy or a summary of that 
policy. 

The company has adopted a shareholder 
communications policy.  The company uses 
its website (www.mdsfinancial.com.au), 
annual report, market announcements and 
media disclosures to communicate with its 
shareholders, as well as encourages 
participation at general meetings. 

This policy is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

6.2 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6. 

The company’s shareholder communications 
policy is available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 

7.1 Establish policies for the 
oversight and management of 
material business risks and 
disclose a summary of these 
policies. 

The company has adopted a risk 
management statement within the audit and 
risk committee charter.  The audit and risk 
committee is responsible for managing risk; 
however, ultimate responsibility for risk 
oversight and risk management rests with the 
Board. 

The audit and risk charter is available on the 
company’s website and is summarised in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 

Complies. 

7.2 The board should require 
management to design and 
implement the risk 
management and internal 
control system to manage the 
company’s material business 
risks and report to it on whether 
those risks are being managed 
effectively.  The Board should 
disclose that management has 
reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material 
business risks. 

The company has identified key risks within 
the business.  In the ordinary course of 
business, management monitor and manage 
these risks. 

Key operational and financial risks are 
presented to and reviewed by the Board at 
each Board meeting. 

Complies. 

7.3 The Board should disclose 
whether it has received 
assurance from the chief 
executive officer and chief 
financial officer that the 
declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of 
risk management and internal 
control and that the system is 
operating efficiently in all 
material respects in relation to 
the financial reporting risks 

The Board has received a statement from the 
chief executive officers and chief financial 
officer that the declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal 
control and that they system is operating 
efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects in relation to the financial reporting 
risks. 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

7.4 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7. 

The Board has adopted an audit and risk 
charter which includes a statement of the 
company’s risk policies. 

This charter is available on the company’s 
website and is summarised in this Corporate 
Governance Statement. 

The company has identified key risks within 
the business and has received a statement of 
assurance form the chief executive officer and 
chief financial officer. 

Complies. 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

8.1 The Board should establish a 
remuneration committee 

The Board has established separate 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees 
and has adopted a remuneration charter.  

Complies. 

8.2 The remuneration committee 
should be structured 

The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees: 

• consist of a majority of independent 
directors; 

• are chaired by an independent director; 
and;  

• has three members. 

Does not comply due to the 
composition of the 
Committee.  However the 
board considers the 
members of the committee 
to be appropriate. 

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure 
of non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior 
executives. 

The company complies with the guidelines for 
executive remuneration packages and non-
executive director remuneration. 

No senior executive is involved directly in 
deciding their own remuneration. 

Complies. 

8.4 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 8. 

The Board has adopted a Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee Charter. 

The company does not have any schemes for 
retirement benefits. 

Complies. 

 
MDS Financial Group Limited’s corporate governance practices were in place for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 
and to the date of signing the directors’ report. 
 
Various corporate governance practices are discussed within this statement.  For further information on corporate 
governance policies adopted by MDS Financial Group Limited, refer to our website: www.mdsfinancial.com.au. 
 
As required by the ASX Listing Rules, this statement sets out the extent to which the Company has followed the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (“Recommendations”) during 
the year to 30 June 2014. The Company considers that its governance practices are generally consistent, where 
possible, with the Recommendations except where stated. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
Board functions 
 
The board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. 
 
To fulfil this role, the board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Group including formulating its 
strategic direction, approving and monitoring capital expenditure, setting remuneration, appointing, removing and 
creating succession policies for directors and senior executives, establishing and monitoring the achievement of 
management’s goals and ensuring the integrity of internal control and management information systems. 
 
It is also responsible for approving and monitoring financial and other reporting 
 
Responsibilities/functions of the Board include: 
 
• setting the direction, financial objectives and goals for management; 
• reviewing and approving strategies for the Company; 
• monitoring management’s performance against these goals and objectives; 
• ensuring there are appropriate standards of Corporate Governance and ethical standards; 
• evaluating the performance and determining the remuneration of the senior executive officers of the Company; 
• ensuring appropriate risk management systems, internal control, reporting systems and compliance frameworks 

are in place and operating effectively; and 
• ensuring there are plans and procedures for recruitment, training, remuneration and succession planning for 

senior executives. 
 
The board has delegated responsibility for operating and administration of the Company to the executive management. 
Responsibilities are delineated by formal authority delegations. 
 
Matters which are specifically reserved for the Board or its committees include the following: 
 
• appointment of the Chairman and if applicable, the Deputy Chairman; 
• appointment and removal of the Chief Executive Officer(s); 
• appointment of directors to fill a vacancy or as additional directors; 
• establishment of Board committees, their membership and delegated authorities; 
• approval of dividends; 
• development and review of corporate governance principles and policies; 
• approval of major capital expenditure, acquisitions and divestitures in excess of authority levels delegated to 

management; 
• calling meetings of shareholders and; 
• any other specific matters nominated by the board from time to time. 
 
Structure of the Board 
 
The company’s constitution governs the regulation and proceedings of the Board. 
 
It is intended that the composition of the board be determined using the following principles: 
 
• a minimum of three directors, with a broad range of expertise; 
• a majority of directors having extensive knowledge of the Company’s industries, and those who do not, having 

extensive experience in significant aspects of auditing and financial reporting, or risk management of large 
companies; 

• a majority of independent non-executive directors; 
• enough directors to serve on various committees without overburdening the directors or making it difficult for 

them to fully discharge their responsibilities; and, 
• a maximum period of ten years service, subject to re-election every three years (except for the managing 

director). 
 
At present the company does not have a majority of independent directors and continues to consist of a majority of 
executive directors involved in the general management of the Company.  The Directors are of the view that maintaining 
this structure is appropriate to the circumstances of the Group as the Board consolidates the restructure of its operations 
and repositioning of its business. 
 
The Board only considers directors to be independent where they are independent of management and free of any 
business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the 
exercise of their unfettered and independent judgment.  The Board has adopted a definition of independence based on 
that set out in Principle 2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Revised Principles and Recommendations.  The Board will 
review the independence of each director in light of interests disclosed to the Board from time to time. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following directors of 
MDS Financial Group Limited are considered to be independent: 
 
Name Position 
Jamie Gee Choo Khoo 
 

Non-Executive Director 
 

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors in furtherance of their duties to seek 
independent professional advice at the company’s expense. 
 
The appointment date of each director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
 
Name 
Peter John Stirling 

Position 
Non - Executive Director and Chairman 

Appointment Date 
24 June 2013 

Jamie Gee Choo Khoo Non-Executive Director 28 February 2013 
Bruce Richard Sydney Symon Executive Director 27 November 2008 
* Peter John Stirling was 
appointed Chairman on 21 
January 2014 

  

 
Further details on each director can be found in the directors’ report attached to this Corporate Governance Statement. 
 
Securities trading policy 
 
The company has adopted a Share Trading Policy which complies with the requirements of ASX Listing Rules. 
 
Under the company’s Share Trading Policy, directors, officers and employees of the company are prohibited from dealing 
in the company’s securities at any time that they may be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information 
concerning the company.  In addition, there are specified closed periods during which dealing in the company’s securities 
is prohibited except under very exceptional circumstances.  A closed period is the period commencing from the end of a 
reporting period and concluding on the business day following the announcement to the market of the company’s full 
year results or half-year results (as the case may be). 
 
Directors, officers and employees can only deal in the company’s securities after having first obtained clearance from the 
Chairman and must notify the company secretary when a trade has occurred. 
 
As required by the ASX Listing Rules, the company notifies the ASX of any transaction conducted by directors in the 
securities of the company within five days of the transaction taking place. 
 
The Share Trading Policy has been issued to ASX and can be found on the company’s website. 

 
Audit committee 
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee which operates under a Charter approved by the Board.  It is the Board’s 
responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity.  This includes internal controls 
to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the 
maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations 
such as the benchmarking of operational key performance indicators.  The Board has delegated responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining a framework of internal control and ethical standards to the Audit Committee. 
 
The Committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for 
inclusion in the financial reports. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee during the year were: 
 
Jamie Khoo (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Richard Symon (Executive Director) 
Jamie Schwartz (Non- Executive Director, appointed 16 April 2014, resigned 23 May 2014) 
Wayne Johnson (Executive Director, Chairman, resigned 21 January) 
 
The external auditors and the executive management are invited to audit committee meetings at the discretion of the 
committee. 
 
For details on the number of meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the directors’ report. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
Risk and Compliance 
 
The responsibility for overseeing risk falls within the charter of the Risk and Compliance Committee.  The company 
identifies areas of risk within the company and management and the Board continuously undertake a risk assessment of 
the company’s operations, procedures and processes.  The risk assessment is aimed at identifying the following: 
 
• a culture of risk control and the minimisation of risk throughout the company, which is being done through natural or 

instinctive processes by employees of the company; 
 

• a culture of  risk control that can easily identify risks as they arise and amend practices; 
 

• the installation of practices and procedures in all areas of the business that are designed to minimise an event or 
incident that could have a financial or other effect on the business and its day to day management; and, 
 

• adoption of these practices and procedures to minimise many of the standard commercial risks, ie taking out the 
appropriate insurance policies, or ensuring compliance reporting is up to date. 

 
CEO and CFO certification 
The chief executive officer and chief financial officer have given a written declaration to the Board required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 that in their view: 
 
• the company’s financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 

control which implements the financial policies adopted by the Board; 
 

• the company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material 
respects; 
 

• the company’s financial statements and notes thereto comply with the accounting standards; and, 
 

• the company’s financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date. 
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Directors’ Report 
 
The directors of MDS Financial Group Limited (“the Company”) present the annual financial report for the Group, being 
parent entity and its subsidiaries, for the year ended 30 June 2014.  In order to comply with the provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows: 
 
The names and particulars of the directors of the Company during or since the beginning of the year are: 
 
Mr Peter John Stirling 
 
Non – Executive Director and Chairman (appointed 24 June 2013, appointed chairman 21 January 2014) 
 
Peter Stirling has a background in the business media, conferencing and online fields having founded SME business 
magazines including titles such as Franchising and Enterprise. He has extensive experience in the SME field and was a 
driving force behind the expansion of the Australian Small Business Association (ASBA).    
 
Mr. Stirling has directorships in the dental health field and is a major shareholder in a company that provides a platform 
for the raising of equity capital for small companies, including technology. 
 
Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon 
 
Executive Director (appointed 27 November 2008) 
 
Prior to joining MDS Financial Richard was the CEO of NSX Ltd (ASX:NSX) the operator of the National Stock 
Exchange, the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now SIM Venture Securities Exchange). He co-founded and was CEO of 
Sharetrade Australian Stockbroking Ltd which was taken over by PBL-listed subsidiary eCorp, and merged to bring 
Charles Schwab to Australia in 2000. 
  
Richard served in roles as executive director of the Securities and Derivatives Industry Association (now Stockbrokers 
Association of Australia) and the full service stockbroker Prudential-Bache Securities.  Richard is a Fellow of Finsia, 
Master Stockbroker (MSAA), Deputy Chairman of Variety the Children's Charity (Vic) and also Chairman of the Financial 
Services Foundation, a Melbourne-based organisation supporting children's charities. 
 
 
Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo 
 
Non-Executive Director (appointed 28 February 2012) 
 
Ms Khoo brings to MDS Financial over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. Ms Khoo also has 
extensive corporate experience on project financing, company funding, initial public offering, investment evaluations, due 
diligence and structuring. 
 
Ms Khoo was an Executive Director of Singapore-listed Adventus Holdings Limited (5EF SGX) from Year 2008 till Year 
2010 and over the years has held key positions in STT Communications Ltd and its various subsidiaries, mainly in the 
areas of finance and investments, with ABB Holdings Ltd in Hong Kong and Beijing and with both Ernst & Young 
Singapore and Baker Hughes Group Singapore. 
 
 
Mr Wayne Noel Johnson 
 
Executive Chairman (initially appointed 20 May 2012, appointed Chairman 23 January 2013, resigned 21 January 2014) 
 
 
Mr Jamie Schwarz 
 
Independent Non- Executive Director (appointed 16 April 2014, resigned 23 May 2014) 
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Directors’ Report 
 
Directorships of other listed companies 
 
Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the last 3 years immediately before the end of the financial 
year are as follows: 
 
Director Company Exchange Period from Period to 
     

JGC Khoo 

JGC Khoo 

Refresh Group Ltd 

Lionhub Group Limited 

ASX 

ASX 

25 Nov 2010 

12 July 2014 

Present 

Present 

PJ Stirling ASSOB NSX 2 Feb 2011  27 June 2013 

 
 
Directors’ shareholdings 
 
The following table sets out the number of each director’s relevant interest in shares and options over shares or interest 
in contracts relating to shares of the Company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report. 
 
Director Fully paid ordinary 

 shares 
Indirect interest in 

 shares 
Indirect interest in share 

options 
    
PJ Stirling 105,000,000 - - 
BRS Symon 34,333,334 3,726,667 - 
 
 
Remuneration of directors and senior management 
 
Information about the remuneration of directors and key management personnel is set out in the remuneration report of 
this directors’ report on page 26. 
 
 
Company Secretary 
 
Mr Andrew Guy Phillips BBS 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
 
Andrew was appointed Company Secretary on 26 June 2012 and as Chief Financial Officer from 20 July 2012.   
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Directors’ Report 
 
Principal Activities 
 
The Group’s principal activity in the course of the financial year was as a provider of diversified financial services to retail 
and wholesale clients.  No significant change in the nature of this activity occurred during the year.  More details on the 
Group’s principal activities are included in the Chairman’s report on page 5 of this annual report. 
 
Review of Operations 
 
The consolidated operating net loss after income tax attributable to members is $1,260,395 (2013: $1,598,504).  A 
review of operations for the Group is set out on pages 7 to 8 of this annual report, commencing with the Chairman’s 
Report. 
 
Change in the state of affairs 
 
There has been no significant change in the state of affairs during or since the end of the financial year. 
 
Subsequent events 
 
Other than the subsequent events as disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements, there have not been any matters or 
circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected the operations of the 
Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 
 
Future Developments 
 
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Group in future financial years and the 
expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.  Accordingly, this 
information has not been disclosed in this report. 
 
Environmental regulation and performance 
 
The Group’s operations are not involved in any activities that have a marked influence on the environment.  As such, the 
directors are not aware of any material issues affecting the Group or its compliance with the relevant environment 
agencies or regulatory authorities. 
 
Dividends 
 
There have been no dividends paid or provided for (2013: nil). 
 
Share options 
 
As at the date of this report, there are nil (2013: nil) unissued ordinary shares of MDS Financial Group Limited under 
options. 
 
Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 
 
During the financial year, the Company paid premiums based on normal commercial terms and conditions to insure all 
directors, officers and employees of the Group against the costs and expenses in defending claims brought against the 
individual while performing services for the Group.  The premium paid has not been disclosed as it is subject to the 
confidentiality provisions of the insurance policy.  The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, 
except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any 
related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
 
The Company has previously entered into a Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each of its current directors: 
Mr Peter Stirling, Mr Richard Symon and Ms Jamie Khoo; and, the following former directors: Mr Jamie Schwartz, Mr 
Wayne Johnson, Mr Sean Rothsey, Mr Damian Isbister, Mr David Whitfield, Mr Allan Shek, Mr Alun Stevens, Mr Leon 
Hinde and Mr Barry Littler.  The purpose of the Deed is to: 
 

• Confirm the indemnity provided by the Company in favour of Directors under the Company’s Constitution; 
 

• Include an obligation upon the Company to maintain adequate Directors and Officers liability insurance; and 
 

• Confirm the right of access to certain documents under the Corporations Act 
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Directors’ Report 
 
Directors’ meetings 
 
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director (while they were a director).  During the financial year, there were 19 Board meetings held.  All 
other Board matters arising during the year being resolved by Circulating Resolutions. 
 
Director  Eligible to attend Attended 

WN Johnson 7 7 

JGC Khoo 12 12 

J Schwartz 1 1 

PJ Stirling 12 12 

BRS Symon 12 12 
 
Audit Committee 
 
During the financial year, there were 4 Audit Committee meetings held.  Other matters arising during the year were 
resolved by Circulating Resolutions. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

WN Johnson  2 2 

JGC Khoo 4 4 

BRS Symon 4 4 

 
Remuneration Committee 
 
During the financial year, there was one Remuneration Committee meeting held. This meeting was added to the agenda 
of one of the Board meetings held. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

PJ Stirling 1 1 

JCG Khoo 1 1 
 
 
Risk and Compliance Committee 
 
During the financial year, there were two Risk and Compliance Committee meeting held. These meetings were added to 
the agenda of two of the Audit Committee meetings held. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

JC Khoo 2 2 

BRS Symon 2 2 
 
Nomination Committee 
 
During the financial year, there was one Nomination Committee meetings held.   This was added to one of the Board 
meetings held. Other matters arising during the year were resolved by Circulating Resolutions. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

PJ Stirling 1 1 

JC Khoo 1 1 
 
 
  

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2014 24 
 



 
Directors’ Report 
 
Non-audit services 
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are 
outlined in note 23 to the financial statements.   
 
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services in the form of tax compliance services, during the year, 
by the auditor (or another person or firm on the auditors’ behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements do not compromise 
the external auditor’s independence, based on advice received from the audit committee, for the following reasons: 
 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and, 

 
• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of 

Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & 
Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditors own work, acting in a management or 
decision making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks 
and rewards. 
 

Officers of the company who are former audit partners of Hall Chadwick 
 
There are no officers of the company who are former audit partners of Hall Chadwick. 
 
Auditor’s independence declaration 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 31 of the financial report and forms part of the Directors’ 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements for the 
consolidated entity and the company, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its 
Regulations. 
 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
 

A. Director and senior management details 
B. Remuneration policies 
C. Remuneration of directors and senior management 
D. Additional information 

 
A. Director and senior management details 
 
Mr Wayne Noel Johnson Executive Chairman, resigned 21 January 2014 

Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo Non-Executive Director 

Mr Jamie Schwarz Independent Non- Executive Director, appointed 16 April 2014, resigned 23 May 2014 

Mr Peter John Stirling Non-Executive Director and Chairman, appointed 24 June 2013, appointed Chairman 21 
January 2014 

Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon 
 

Executive Director 
 

In addition to the directors noted above, the following persons represent the senior management of the Group during or 
since the end of the year: 
 
Mr Craig Bradley Foley Chief Information Officer 

Mr Andrew Guy Phillips Chief Financial Officer/  Company Secretary 
 

  

   

B. Remuneration policies 
 
The performance of the Group depends upon the quality of its directors and executives.  The Group recognises the need 
to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives. 
 
The Board of Directors, through its Remuneration Committee, accepts responsibility for determining and reviewing 
remuneration arrangements for the directors and the senior management team.  The Remuneration Committee assesses 
the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of directors and senior managers on a periodic basis by 
reference to relevant employment market conditions, giving due consideration to the overall profitability and financial 
resources of the Group, with the objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
board and executive team. 
 
The Board proposes to review reward structures and the remuneration arrangements for directors and executives in 
conjunction with a return to profitability. 
 
Non-executive director remuneration 
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made of the directors in fulfilling their 
responsibilities.  Non-executive director fees are reviewed annually by the Board.  The constitution of the Company 
provides that the non-executive directors of the company are entitled to such remuneration, as determined by the Board, 
which must not exceed in aggregate the maximum amount determined by the Company in general meeting.  The most 
recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 15 December 2006 where the shareholders approved 
an aggregate remuneration of $200,000. 
 
Senior management and executive director remuneration 
Executive remuneration comprises: 
• Fixed remuneration component 
• Variable remuneration component including short-term incentive (STI) and long-term incentive (LTI). 
 
Fixed remuneration 
Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration as well as employer contributions to superannuation.  Remuneration 
levels are reviewed annually through a process that considers individual performance and that of the overall Group. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
Variable remuneration – short term incentive (STI) 
STIs are available to executives who achieve revenue and/or profit targets.  The Board is responsible for determining 
who is eligible to participate in STI arrangements as well as the structure of those arrangements. No STI’s, including 
options have been awarded in the current financial year. 
 
Variable remuneration – long term incentive (LTI) 
The objective of the LTI plan is to reward senior managers in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with 
the creation of shareholder wealth.  As such, LTI grants are only made to executives who are able to influence the 
generation of shareholder wealth and thus have a direct impact on the Group’s performance against relevant long term 
performance hurdles.  LTI grants to executives are delivered in the form of options or shares. 
 
No LTI grants were allocated during 2014.  In 2011 a total of 12,500,000 fully vested options, issued for nil consideration, 
exercisable at 5 cents, which expired on the 30 June 2013 were allocated under the LTI program to key management 
personnel.  There is no performance criteria associated with the issue of these options. 
 
C. Remuneration of directors and senior management 
 
Remuneration shown below relates to the period in which the director or executive was a member of key management 
personnel. Amounts below have either been paid out or accrued in the period. Included in the cash salary and fees are 
short term benefits being; director fees, management contracts and fees earned from mandated corporate activity. 
 
 

 Short-term benefits Post 
employment 

benefits 

Long-term 
benefits 

Share-based payments Total 

 Cash salary and fees Bonus 
Super-

annuation 

Long 
service 
leave Shares 

Equity 
settled  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
2014        
Non-
Executive 
Directors: 

       

JGC Khoo 22,018 - 1,982 - - - 24,000 
J Schwartz 
PJ Stirling 
 

3,000 
39,000 

- - - - - 3,000 
39,000 

Executive 
Directors: 

       

WN Johnson 180,194 - - - - - 180,194 
BRS Symon 123,333 - - - - - 123,333 
        
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel: 

       

CB Foley 136,000 - 12,578 - - - 148,578 
AG Phillips 
 

120,000 
 

- - 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

120,000 

 623,545 - 14,560 - - - 638,105 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
 
 Short-term benefits Post 

employment 
benefits 

Long-term 
benefits 

Share-based payments Total 

 
Cash salary 

and fees Bonus 
Super-

annuation 

Long 
service 
leave Shares 

Equity 
settled  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
2013        
Non-Executive Directors:        
JGC Khoo 22,018 - 1,982 - - - 24,000 
SP Rothsey 35,000 - 3,150 - - - 38,150 
        
Executive Directors:        
DW Isbister 32,661 - 1,315 - - - 33,976 
WN Johnson 152,500 - - - - - 152,500 
BRS Symon 
 

140,000 - - - - - 140,000 

        
Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

       

TP Boland 103,010 - 8,820 - - - 111,830 
CB Foley 136,000 - 12,240 - - - 148,240 
AG Phillips 
AJ Iremonger 

108,000 
45,671 

- - 
3,350 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

108,000 
49,021 

 774,860 - 30,857 - - - 805,717 
 
 
 
The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 
 

 
Fixed remuneration 

 
At risk - STI 

 
At risk - LTI 

 
Name 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Executive Directors:       
SP Rothsey -% 100% -% -% -% -% 
JGC Khoo 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
J Schwartz 100% -% -% -% -% -% 
PJ Stirling 100% -% -% -% -% -% 
       
Executive Directors:       
DW Isbister -% 100% -% -% -% -% 
WN Johnson 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
BRS Symon 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
       
Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

      

TP Boland -% 100% -% -% -% -% 
CB Foley 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
AJ Iremonger -% 100% -% -% -% -% 
AG Phillips 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 

 
 
There is no link between remuneration and the market price of the Company’s shares. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
Shareholding 
The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties is set out below; 
 
30 June 2014 Balance at the 

start of the year 
 

Received as part 
of remuneration 

Additions Disposals/ 
other 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

W Johnson 17,615,199  5,232,000 2,520,333 20,326,866 
J Khoo - - - - - 
R Symon 28,545,000 - 43,848,336 - 72,393,336 
P Stirling 80,000,000 - 130,000,000 - 210,000,000 
C Foley 114,242 - -  114,242 
      
 126,274,441 - 179,080,336 2,520,333 302,834,444 
 
 
30 June 2013 Balance at the 

start of the year 
 

Received as part 
of remuneration 

Additions Disposals/ 
other 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

S Rothsey 16,493,688 - 25,000,000 - 41,493,688 
W Johnson 17,615,199  - - 17,615,199 
D Isbister 26,326,632 - - 25,000,000 1,326,632 
R Symon 28,545,000 - - - 28,545,000 
P Stirling - - 80,000,000 - 80,000,000 
T Boland 1,441,667 - 258,333 - 1,700,000 
C Foley 114,242 - -  114,242 
A Iremonger 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 
      
 103,536,428 - 105,258,333 27,520,333 183,794,761 
 
 
Option holding 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out 
below: 
 
30 June 2014  

 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
 

Granted 
as remun-

eration 
during the 

year 

 
 

Expired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Acquired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
 

Vested 
during the 

year 

 
 

Vested and 
exercise-

able 

 
Vested 

and 
unexer-
cisable 

W Johnson - - - - - - - - 
         
 - - - - - - - - 
 
30 June 2013  

 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
 

Granted 
as remun-

eration 
during the 

year 

 
 

Expired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Acquired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
 

Vested 
during the 

year 

 
 

Vested and 
exercise-

able 

 
Vested 

and 
unexer-
cisable 

W Johnson 12,500,000 - (12,500,000) - - - - - 
         
 12,500,000 - (12,500,000) - - - - - 

 
 
Key terms of employment contracts 
The employment terms and conditions of key management personnel and Group executives are formalised in standard 
contracts of employment.  All contracts are for no fixed term with 1 to 3 months notice required for termination by either 
party. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
D. Additional Information 
 
The following table shows the gross revenue, profits and dividends for the last five years of the listed entity, as well as 
the share prices at the end of the respective financial years. 
 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014  

 $ $ $ $ $  
Revenue 6,060,935 7,448,877 7,365,432 5,794,619 6,490,563  
Net loss (349,140) (1,288,793) (2,892,244) (1,598,504) (1,260,395)  
Share price at year end $0.030 $0.019 $0.016 $0.010 $0.010  
Dividends paid Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil  

 
 
This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited 
 
The directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s298(2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 

 
 
 
Peter Stirling 
Chairman 
 
30 August 2014 
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General Information 
 
The financial report covers MDS Financial Group Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of MDS Financial Group 
Limited and the entities it controls.  The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is MDS Financial Group 
Limited functional and presentation currency. 
 
The financial report consists of the financial statements, notes to the financial statements and the directors’ declaration. 
 
MDS Financial Group Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its 
registered office and principal place of business is: 
 
Level 37 
Rialto South Tower  
525 Collins Street 
Melbourne   VIC   3000 
 
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operation and its principal activities are included in the directors’ 
report, which is not part of the financial report. 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 30 September 2014.  The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended June 2014 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Revenue 4 6,490,563 5,794,619 
    
Expenses    
Data fees  (969,104) (1,149,743) 
Dealing and settlement  (2,867,402) (1,996,673) 
Employee benefits 5 (1,618,868) (2,019,415) 
Occupancy  (348,317) (365,713) 
Telecommunications  (203,490) (263,093) 
Marketing  (76,904) (112,591) 
General and administrative  (1,338,876) (995,326) 
Depreciation and impairment 5 (73,965) (84,617) 
Impairment of financial assets  - (241,136) 
Other  (258,030) (164,816) 
    
Loss before income tax   (1,264,393) (1,598,504) 
    
Income tax expense 6 3,998 - 
    
Loss after income tax  (1,260,395) (1,598,504)  
    
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 
    
Total comprehensive income for the year  (1,260,395) (1,598,504)  

    
 

 
 
 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
  Cents Cents 
    
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the owners of 
MDS Financial Group Limited 

   

    
Basic earnings per share 30 (0.244) (0.451) 
Diluted earnings per share 30 (0.244) (0.451) 
    
 
All potential ordinary shares, being options to acquire ordinary shares are not considered dilutive, as the exercise of the 
options would decrease the basic loss per share. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2014 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 615,941 315,526 
Trade and other receivables 8 489,757 674,651 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 119,464 - 
Other assets 10 162,948 151,272 
    
Total current assets  1,388,110 1,141,449 
    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 170,440 152 
Plant and equipment 11 32,954 57,661 
Intangible assets 12 1,155,009 1,202,685 
Other assets 10 255,673 405,673 
    
Total non-current assets  1,614,075 1,666,171 
    
Total assets  3,002,185 2,807,620 
    
Trade and other payables 13 2,325,084 2,330,347 
Borrowings 14 540,000 - 
Deferred income 15 229,290 263,903 
Employee benefits 16 146,452 185,175 
    
Total current liabilities  3,240,827 2,779,425 
    
Employee benefits 16 23,887 23,047 
    
Total non-current liabilities  23,887 23,047 
    
Total liabilities  3,264,714 2,802,472 
    
Net assets  (262,527) 5,148 

    
Equity    
Contributed equity 17 24,411,676 23,418,956 
Reserves 18 46,384 46,384 
Accumulated losses  (24,720,587) (23,460,192) 
    
Total equity  (262,527) 5,148 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2014 
 
 
 
 
Consolidated  Contributed Equity Reserves Accumulated 

Losses 
Total 

Equity 

 $ 
 

$ $ $ 

     
Balance at 1 July 2012 21,940,384 46,384 (21,861,687) 125,081 
     
Loss after income tax expense for the 
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,598,504) 

 
(1,598,504)  

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,598,504)  

 
(1,598,504)  

     
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

    

Share capital issued 1,478,571 - - 1,432,187 

     
     
Balance at 30 June 2013 23,418,955 46,384 (23,460,192) 5,148 
 
 
Consolidated  

 
 

Contributed Equity 

 
 

Reserves 

 
 

Accumulated 
Losses 

 
 

Total Equity 

 $ 
 

$ $ $ 

     
Balance at 1 July 2013 23,418,955 46,384 (23,460,192) 5,148 
     
Loss after income tax expense for the 
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,260,395) 

 
(1,260,395) 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,260,395) 

 
(1,260,395) 

     
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

    

 
Convertible note 

 
265,000 

   
265,000 

Share capital issued 727,721 - - 727,721 
     
     
Balance at 30 June 2014 24,411,677 46,384 (24,720,587) (262,527) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2014 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
    
Cash receipts from customers  6,410,019 5,978,552 
Cash paid to suppliers and employers  (7,411,577) (6,904,445) 
Interest received  3,825 6,152 
Interest paid  (56,050) (62,305) 
Income tax received  3,998  
    
Net Cash used in operating activities 29 (1,049,785) (982,046) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
    
Proceeds from sale of investments  - 6,901 
Payment for property, plant and equipment  1,581 - 
Payment for other asset  (125,939) - 
    
Net cash used in investing activities  (127,521) 6,901 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
    
Proceeds from borrowings  750,000 - 
Proceeds from issue of securities net of costs  727,721 1,478,571 
Repayment of borrowings   (476,655) 
    
Net cash provided by financing activities  1,477,721 1,001,916 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  300,415 26,771 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  315,526 288,755 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 7 615,941 315,526 

  
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

Note Contents 
 

1 Statement of significant accounting policies 
2 New accounting standards and interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
3 Operating segments 
4 Revenue 
5 Expenses 
6 Income tax expense 
7 Cash and cash equivalents 
8 Trade and other receivables 
9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
10 Other assets  
11 Plant and equipment 
12 Intangible assets 
13 Trade and other payables 
14 Borrowings 
15 Deferred income 
16 Employee benefits 
17 Equity – contributed 
18 Equity – reserves 
19 Equity – dividends 
20 Financial risk management  
21 Key management personnel disclosures 
22 Remuneration of auditors 
23 Contingent liabilities 
24 Commitments for expenditure 
25 Related party transactions 
26 Parent entity information 
29 Subsidiaries 
28 Events occurring after the reporting date 
29 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash from operating activities 
30 Earnings per share  
31 Share based payments  
  
  

 
  

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2014 37 
 



 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied to 
all the years presented. 
 
The financial statements are those of the consolidated entity consisting of MDS Financial Group Limited and its 
controlled entities.  Separate financial statements of MDS Financial Group Limited as an individual entity are no longer 
presented as a consequence of a change to the Corporations Act 2001, however limited financial information on MDS 
Financial Group Limited as an individual entity is included in note 27. 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial 
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the Australian Accounting Standards Board has 
concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events 
and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.  Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated 
otherwise. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Going concern 

The financial report shows that for year ended 30 June 2014 the consolidated entity has a loss attributable to members 
of $1,260,395 (2013: loss $1,598,504) and a negative cash flow from operating cash flows of $1,049,785 (2013: 
982,046).  

At balance date the consolidated entity has a current asset deficiency of $1,852,714 (2013: $1,637,976) and a net 
tangible asset deficiency of $1,417,536 (2013: net tangible assets deficiency $1,197,537).  These conditions indicate a 
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern is dependent upon a number of critical factors, one 
being the continuation and availability of funds.  To this end the consolidated entity is expecting to fund its obligations 
beyond the reported working capital position as follows: 

• The consolidated entity is managing its outstanding creditors.  At the date of signing the financial report payments 
are being made to creditors as funds become available. The Company has performed significant cost saving 
measures during the year, causing one-off payments to former Directors and long serving staff members. In addition 
a number of contractual relationships have been renegotiated, thus reducing the underlying cost base of the 
Company, to support its current trading levels. 
 

• New revenue generating strategic relationships have been made over recent months allowing the Company to look 
towards positive operational results, in keeping with its refocus on the Company’s core business. 

 
• The Company owns 11.56% of Finance News Network. The Company carries this asset at $152 on the balance 

sheet, however internal valuations conducted suggest that this asset has a significantly greater value which may be 
realised in the future. 
 

• The Company has been assisted in its financial and operational restructure throughout the year by debt funding. 
This debt funding has been provided and directors expect it will not be called until the Company is recapitalised. 

 
• On 4 July 2014 the Company completed a non-renounceable pro-rata rights issue at an issue price of $0.002 raising 

the sum of $691,166. During the same period the company converted $339,000 of outstanding liabilities, whereby 
issuing 515,083,001 new shares. In addition, the Company completed additional placements of $460,000 on 27 
August 2014 and $158,100 on 26 September 2014 under the available placement capacity. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

• As announced in 25 June 2014, the Company has entered into a non-binding term sheet to acquire 100% of 
Sequoia Financial Group Limited. The formal process is underway and the Company expects to call a General 
Meeting of the Shareholders to approve this acquisition by the end of October 2014. This will provide scalability for 
the existing core business of the Company and it is expected will improve results significantly. 

The Company has budgeted an improved financial performance over the period of 12 months from the date of signing 
the financial report.  Initiatives contributing to this are: 

-       Reviewing the current service offering for both wholesale and retail broking clients. The Group is aware of a number 
of potential undervalued product offerings; these will be reviewed and adjusted to market rate. The Group has 
commenced a new arrangement which will potentially see improved segment revenue through the introduction of new 
wholesale partnerships. 

-       The Group is continuing to focus on Asian relationships and growth market opportunities. Currently the Group is 
engaged in a number of commercial opportunities and if successful will continue to cement the companies niche market 
strategy. 

-       The Group has commenced reducing the number of Australian Financial Services Licences held, to reduce the cost 
of compliance overheads. Further, the group is beginning to streamline the current synergies in the licences whereby 
reducing ongoing administration and compliance related costs.  

-       Marketing of data subscriptions and broking activities will be revitalised in the current financial year through a change 
in corporate branding to a smaller number of brands, this will reduce the ongoing maintenance required and build 
stronger brand recognition. This will be a main focus for the Group in the upcoming financial year.  

Cash flow forecasts prepared by management demonstrate the consolidated entity has sufficient cash flows to meet its 
commitments over the next 12 months based on the above factors. For that reason the financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis that the consolidated entity is a going concern, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activity, realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, certain 
classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in note 12. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent MDS Financial 
Group Limited and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. 
The parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 
27. 
 
The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group from 
the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that 
control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between group 
entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments 
made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non-controlling 
interests”. The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests in subsidiaries and 
are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets on liquidation at either fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-controlling 
interests are attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling 
interests are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Foreign currency translation 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is MDS Financial Group Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency. 
 
Business combinations 
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses. 
 
A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination involving entities 
or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from the date that control is 
attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) 
assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions). 
 
When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent consideration 
classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 
consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any 
change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date. 
 
All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with the issue of a 
financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred. 
 
The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. 
 
Income Tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and unused tax losses and under and over provisions in prior periods, where applicable. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted except 
for: 

• When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or 

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests 
in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date.  Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available 
for the carrying amount to be recovered.  Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity’s which intent to settle simultaneously. 
 
MDS Financial Group Limited (the ‘head entity’) and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed an 
income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime.  The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  The tax consolidated group has 
applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to member of the tax 
consolidated group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising  from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group.  The tax funding arrangement ensures that 
the intercompany charge equals the current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group member, resulting in 
neither a contribution by the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, 
depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 
 
Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly 
(ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement 
date. 
 
As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to 
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific 
asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one 
or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable 
market data. 
 
To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (ie the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the 
most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the 
receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account 
transaction costs and transport costs). 
 
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to use the 
asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and 
best use. 
 
The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based payment 
arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the transfer of such financial 
instrument, by reference to observable market information where such instruments are held as assets. Where this 
information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective 
note to the financial statements. 
 
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that settlement of all or 
part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to 
their present value as at the date of acquisition. 
 
Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the 
net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period. 
 
The depreciable amounts of all fixed assets are depreciated on a reducing balance basis over their estimated useful 
lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 

  2014  2013 
Plant and equipment:  11.3% to 50%  11.3% to 50% 

 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, 
using the straight line method. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Recognition and initial measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to 
the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the company commits itself to either the purchase 
or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified 
“at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest method, or 
cost.  
 
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of 
the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to 
determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models. 
 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and is 
equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of 
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected 
future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a consequential recognition of an 
income or expense item in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for the purpose of 
short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an 
accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a Group of financial assets is managed by key 
management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying amount being included in profit 
or loss. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss 
through the amortisation process and when the financial asset is derecognised. 
 
Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial 
asset is derecognised. 
 
Available-for-sale investments 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of being classified into 
other categories of financial assets due to their nature or they are designated as such by management. They comprise 
investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 
 
They are subsequently measured at fair value with any remeasurements other than impairment losses and foreign 
exchange gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income. When the financial asset is derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss pertaining to that asset previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified into 
profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets when they are expected to be sold after 12 
months from the end of the reporting period. All other available-for-sale financial assets are classified as current assets. 
 
Impairment 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset has 
been impaired. A financial asset (or a group of financial assets) is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) having occurred, which has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
 
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market value of the instrument 
is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss immediately. Also, any 
cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss at 
this point. 
 
In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that the debtors or a group 
of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance account is used to 
reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses. After having taken all possible measures of 
recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the 
written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised in the allowance account. 
 
When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been renegotiated, the 
Group recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account the original terms as if the terms have 
not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred are duly considered. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair 
value at the date of the acquisition.  Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost.  Intangible 
assets are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment.  The gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset.  The method and useful lives of finite life intangibles are 
reviewed annually.  Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by 
changing the amortisation method or period. 
 
Goodwill 
Where an entity or operation is acquired in a business combination, the identifiable net assets acquired are measured at 
fair value.  The excess of the fair value of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is brought to account as goodwill.  Goodwill is not amortised.  Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not 
subsequently reversed. 
 
Australian Securities Exchange licence 
The licence relating to participant status of the Australian Securities Exchange is being amortised on a straight-line 
basis over a period of 5 years commencing 1 July 2011. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.  The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset 
or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped 
together to form a cash-generating unit. 
 
Functional and presentation currency  
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is the parent entity’s functional currency. 
 
Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries and annual leave 
Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are 
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the 
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. 
Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is 
settled.  
 
The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are recognised as a 
part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The Group’s obligations for employees’ 
annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as provisions in the statement of financial position. 
 
Long service leave 
Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other 
long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to 
employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and 
employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any 
remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in 
profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.  
 
The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its statement of 
financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions 
 
Defined contribution superannuation expense 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Share-based payments 
Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based remuneration benefits are provided to employees. 
 
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange 
for the rendering of services.  Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the 
amount of cash is determined by reference to the share price. 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date.  Fair value is independently 
determined using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, 
the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting 
conditions that do not determine whether the consolidated entity receives the services that entitle the employees to 
receive payment.  No account is taken of any other vesting conditions. 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period.  The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period.  The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts 
already recognised in previous periods. 
 
The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either 
the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the 
award was granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 

• during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied 
by the expired portion of the vesting period. 

• from the end of the reporting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability 
at the reporting date. 

 
All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss.  The ultimate cost of cash-settled transaction is the cash paid 
to settle the liability. 
 
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value.  Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied. 
 
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made.  
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based remuneration benefit as at the date of modification. 
 
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the 
conditions is treated as a cancellation.  If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee 
and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining 
vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 
 
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately.  If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled 
and new award is treated as if they were a modification. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate specific to the liability.  The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Revenue and other income 
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the consolidated entity has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. 
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue from the provision of services to customers is recognised upon delivery of the service to the customer. 
Revenue received that relates to the provision for future services is accounted for as deferred income.  
 
Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial 
asset. 
 
Commissions 
When the consolidated entity acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue 
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the consolidated entity. 
 
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 
Trade Receivables 
 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment.  Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectable are 
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.  A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there 
is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables.  Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation and default are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired.  The amount of 
the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted if the effect of discounting immaterial. 
 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
 
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid.  Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and not 
discounted. 
 
Loans and Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs.  
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, 
the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.  
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax 
authority. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
 
Where the Group has retrospectively applied an accounting policy, made a retrospective restatement or reclassified 
items in its financial statements, an additional statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period will be disclosed. 
 
New and Amended Accounting Policies Adopted by the Group 
Consolidated financial statements 
 
The Group adopted the following Australian Accounting Standards, together with the relevant consequential 
amendments arising from related Amending Standards, from the mandatory application date of 1 January 2013: 

• AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements; 
• AASB 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities; 
• AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements; and 
• AASB 13: Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss. 

 
AASB 10 provides a revised definition of “control” and may result in an entity having to consolidate an investee that was 
not previously consolidated and/or deconsolidate an investee that was consolidated under the previous accounting 
pronouncements. 
 
The first-time application of AASB 10 resulted in no changes to the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumption that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements.  Management continually evaluates its judgements and 
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.  Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of 
future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the resulting accounting judgements 
and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results.  The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial 
or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.  The 
accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and 
equity. 
 
Provision for impairment of receivables 
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement.  The level of 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection 
rates and specific knowledge of the individual debtor’s financial position.  
 
Fair value and hierarchy of financial instruments 
The consolidated entity is required to classify financial instruments, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
being Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2: Inputs other than 
quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly 
(derived from prices); and Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).  An instrument is required to be classified in its entirety on the basis of the lowest level of 
valuation inputs that is significant to fair value.  Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to 
fair value and therefore which category the financial instrument is placed in can be subjective. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models.  These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on 
unobservable inputs. 
 
 
 
 
 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2014 46 
 



 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimation of the useful life of assets 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and definite life intangible assets.  The useful lives could change significantly as a result 
of technical innovations or some other event.  The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful 
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned 
or sold will be written off or written down. 
 
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, 
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note 1.  The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations.   These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based 
on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating condition specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular 
asset that may lead to impairment.  If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  
This involves fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and 
assumptions. 
 
Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates.  Significant judgment is 
required in determining the provision for income tax.  There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during 
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.  The consolidated entity 
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity’s current understanding of the tax 
law.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact 
the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Long service leave provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date.  In determining the present 
value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increased through promotion and inflation have been taken into 
account. 
 
Contributed equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Dividends 
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the consolidated 
entity. 
 
Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of MDS Financial Group Limited, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains 
or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial liability is 
derecognised. 
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Note 2. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the Group, 
together with an assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on the Group when adopted in future 
periods, are discussed below: 
 
AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2017). 
 
The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the comment on hedge accounting below) and includes 
revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and 
derecognition requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. 
 
The key changes made to the Standard that may affect the Group on initial application include certain simplifications to 
the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded derivatives, and the irrevocable 
election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income.  AASB 9 also introduces a new model for hedge accounting that will allow greater flexibility in 
the ability to hedge risk, particularly with respect to hedges of non-financial items.  Should the entity elect to change its 
hedge policies in line with the new hedge accounting requirements of AASB 9, the application of such accounting would 
be largely prospective. 
 
Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the Group’s financial instruments, 
including hedging activity, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact. 
 
AASB 2012–3:  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 
 
This Standard provides clarifying guidance relating to the offsetting of financial instruments, which is not expected to 
impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Interpretation 21: Levies (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 
 
Interpretation 21 clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a levy imposed by a government should be 
recognised, and whether that liability should be recognised in full at a specific date or progressively over a period of 
time. This Interpretation is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
AASB 2013–3: Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 
 
This Standard amends the disclosure requirements in AASB 136: Impairment of Assets pertaining to the use of fair 
value in impairment assessment and is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
AASB 2013–4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 
 
AASB 2013–4 makes amendments to AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to permit the 
continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging 
instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. This 
Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
AASB 2013–5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities (applicable for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 
 
AASB 2013–5 amends AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements to define an “investment entity” and requires, with 
limited exceptions, that the subsidiaries of such entities be accounted for at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with AASB 9 and not be consolidated. Additional disclosures are also required. As neither the parent nor its 
subsidiaries meet the definition of an investment entity, this Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s 
financial statements. 
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Note 3. Operating Segments 

 
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The consolidated entity is organised into three operating segments: data subscriptions, broking and corporate advisory.  
These operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who 
are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’)) in assessing performance and in determining the 
allocation of resources.  There is no aggregation of operating segments. 
 
The data subscriptions segment consists of two products: The Bourse and Market Analyser.  Goodwill associated with 
this segment relates to data subscriptions.  For the year ended 30 June 2014, the data subscriptions contribution to 
Segment Result before impairment expense and revaluation increments to fair value was a profit of $621,667 (2013: $ 
547,921). 
 
The information reported to the CODM is on a least a monthly basis. 
 
Types of products and services 
The principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows: 
 
Data subscriptions provision of financial market data and analysis tools for sophisticated traders 
Broking  provision of execution only, online trading 
Corporate advisory provision of capital markets advice and related services 
 
All products and services are provided predominantly to customers in Australia. 
 
Intersegment transactions 
Intersegment transactions were made at cost.  Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Intersegment receivables, payables and loans 
Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received.  Intersegment loans receivable and loans 
payable that earn or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates.  
Intersegment loans are eliminated on consolidation. 
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Note 3. Operating Segments (continued) 
 
 Broking Data 

Subscriptions 
Corporate 
Advisory 

Unallocated Consolidated 

2014 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Revenue 3,067,534 1,647,332 1,686,345 89,341 6,490,563 
      
Segment result before impairment 
expense and revaluation increments to 
fair value 

 
 

(1,740,904) 

 
 

621,667 

 
 

(138,169) 

 
 

- 

 
 

(1,257,406) 
      
Impairment – software development 
 

- 
 

- - - - 

Revaluation increment to fair value – 
unlisted options 
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(2,989) 

 
- 

 
(2,989) 

      
Segment result (1,740,904) 621,667 (141,158) - (1,260,395) 
      
Loss after income tax expense     (1,260,395)  
      
      
Assets      
Segment assets 1,621,295 1,352,675 28,215 - 3,002,185 
      
Total assets     3,002,185 
      
Liabilities      
Segment liabilities 1,157,117 2,087,231 20,366 - 3,264,714 
      
Total liabilities     3,264,714 
      
 
 Broking Data 

Subscriptions 
Corporate 
Advisory 

Unallocated Consolidated 

2013 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Revenue 3,561,464 1,873,358 353,486 6,311 5,794,619 
      
Segment result before impairment 
expense and revaluation increments to 
fair value 

 
 

(1,482,753) 

 
 

547,921 

 
 

(438,250) 

 
 

15,707 

 
 

(1,357,368) 
      
Impairment – software development 
 

- 
 

- - - - 

Revaluation increment to fair value – 
unlisted options 
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(241,136) 

 
- 

 
(241,136) 

      
Segment result (1,482,753) 547,921 (679,386)  15,707 (1,598,504) 
      
Loss after income tax expense     (1,598,504) 
      
      
Assets      
Segment assets 1,339,731 1,356,690 111,199 - 2,807,620 
      
Total assets     2,807,620 
      
Liabilities      
Segment liabilities 1,034,719 1,351,040 416,713 - 2,802,472 
 
Total liabilities     2,802,472 
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Note 4. Revenue 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Data subscriptions fees  1,563,873 1,873,358 
Brokerage and commissions revenue  3,067,534 3,232,288 
Corporate advisory fees  1,634,856 594,622 
  6,266,263 5,700,268 
    
Other revenue    
Interest  3,825 6,311 
Other  220,475 88,040 
  527,189 94,351 
    
  6,490,563 5,794,619 
 
Note 5. Expenses 
 
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 
 
Employee benefits expense    

Wages and salaries  1,438,472 1,797,998 
Other employment costs  180,396 221,417 
  1,618,868 2,019,415 
    
Depreciation     
Plant and equipment  22,751 31,044 
Leasehold improvements  3,538 5,897 
  26,289 36,941 
    
Amortisation    
Websites  3,676 3,676 
ASX membership  30,000 30,000 
Client list  14,000 14,000 
  47,676 47,676 
  
  
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment  73,965 84,617 
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Note 5. Expenses (continued) 

 
Rental expense on operating leases  Consolidated  
   2014 2013 
   $ $ 
Property lease  217,943 213,856 
    
    
Finance costs    
Interest paid/payable  56,050 62,305 

 
 
 

Note 6. Income Tax Expense 
 

  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Income tax expense    
Current tax  (3,998) - 
    
  (3,998) - 

    
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie 
income tax payable 

   

Loss before income tax from continuing operations  1,264,393 1,598,504 
    
Tax at the Australian rate of 30%  (379,318) (479,551) 
    
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

 
  

- Impairment of goodwill  - - 
- Impairment and amortisation of intangible assets  14,302 14,302 
- share based payments  - - 
- black-hole expenditure  1,414 (13,916) 
- unrealised loss/(gain) on investments  - - 
- loss / (gain) on investment disposed on capital account  (867) 72,341 
- other items  (631) 3,441 
    
Current year tax losses and temporary differences not 
recognised 

 
365,100 406,056 

  
Income tax expense  - - 
    
    
Tax losses    
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised 

  
10,886,300 

 
9,626,917 

    
Potential tax benefit @30%  3,265,890 2,888,075 
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Note 7. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Current    
    
Cash at bank and on hand  615,941 315,526 

    
Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 

   

The above figures are reconciled to cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of 
cash flows as follows: 

   

    
Balance as per statement of cash flows  615,941 315,526 

    
 

Note 8. Trade and Other Receivables 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Current    
Trade receivables  656,222 742,125 
Allowance for doubtful debts  (179,174) (85,020) 
    
  477,048 657,105 
Other receivables  12,709 17,546 
    
  489,757 674,651 
 
Impairment of receivables 
The company has recognised an additional impairment to receivables in 2014 of $100,000 (2013: nil). In the year, $5,846 
impaired receivables was recovered compared to 2013 where $9,396 impaired receivables were recovered.  
 
The ageing of the impaired receivables recognised above are as follows: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
1 to 30 days overdue  - - 
31 to 60 days overdue  - - 
Over 60 days overdue  179,174 85,020 
    
  179,174 85,020 
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Note 8. Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 
 
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Opening balance  85,020 94,416 
Additional provisions recognised  94,154 (9,396) 
    
Closing balance  179,174 85,020 

 
 
Past due but not impaired 
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $56,882 as at 30 June 
2014 (2013: $222,943). The consolidated entity did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing 
agency credit information and credit terms of customers based on recent collection practices. 
 
The aging of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
1 to 30 days overdue  432,875 451,708 
31 to 60 days overdue  3,516 4,586 
Over 60 days overdue  53,366 218,357 
    
  489,757 674,651 
 
 
Note 9. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Current    
Ordinary shares - held for trading  119,464 - 
    
  119,464 - 
    
Reconciliation    
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below: 

   

    
Opening fair value  - 8,840 
Additions  125,940 - 
Disposals  - (6,901) 
Revaluation decrements to fair value  (6,476) (1,939) 
    
Closing fair value  119,464 - 
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Note 9. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Non-current    
Escrowed shares  170,288 - 
Share in other corporations – available for sale  152 152 
    
  170,440 152 
Reconciliation    
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below: 

   

    
Opening fair value  152 239,350 
Escrowed shares issued for service fee  170,288 - 
Revaluation increments to fair value  - (239,198) 
    
Closing fair value  170,440 152 
 
Previously held unlisted options held by the company were fully impaired as at 30 June 2013.  
 
 
Note 10. Other Assets 
 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
Current    
Prepayments  162,948 151,272 
    
  162,948 151,272 

    
Non-current    
Bonds and guarantees  255,673 405,673 

    
 
Note 11. Plant and Equipment  
 
Non-current    
Plant and equipment – at cost  472,421 470,840 
Accumulated depreciation  (444,775) (422,025) 
    
  27,646 48,815 
    
Leasehold improvements – at cost  42,471 42,471 
Accumulated depreciation  (37,163) (33,625) 
    
  5,308 8,846 
    
Total plant and equipment – net book value  32,954 57,661 
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Note 11. Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Reconciliations 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current financial year 
 
  Plant and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Total 

  $ $ $ 
     
Consolidated     
Balance at 30 June 2013  48,815 8,846  57,661 
     
Additions  1,581 - 1,581 
Depreciation  (22,750) (3,538) (26,288) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2014  27,646 5,308 32,954 
     
 
 
Note 12. Intangible Assets 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
Non-current    
    
Goodwill    
Cost  2,056,120 2,056,120 
Accumulated impairment losses  (995,288) (995,288) 
  1,060,832 1,060,832 
    
Websites    
Cost  38,381 38,381 
Accumulated impairment  (20,000) (20,000) 
Accumulated amortisation  (14,705) (11,028) 
  3,676 7,353 
    
Software development     
Cost  1,273,533 1,273,533 
Accumulated impairment  (1,093,458) (1,093,458) 
Accumulated amortisation  (180,075) (180,075) 
  - - 
ASX Membership    
Cost  150,000 150,000 
Accumulated amortisation  (87,500) (57,500) 
  62,500 92,500 
Customer List    
Cost  70,000 70,000 
Accumulated amortisation  (42,000) (28,000) 
  28,000 42,000 
    
Total intangibles  1,155,008 1,202,685 
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Note 12. Intangible assets (continued) 
 
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
 
 Goodwill Websites ASX Licence Client List Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Consolidated      
      
Balance at 1 July 2012 1,060,832 11,029 122,500 56,000 1,250,361 
      
Impairment - - - - - 
Amortisation - (3,676) (30,000) (14,000) (47,676) 
Internal development - - - - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2013 1,060,832 7,353 92,500 42,000 1,202,685 
Impairment - - - - - 
Amortisation - (3,676) (30,000) (14,000) (47,678) 
Internal development - - - - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2014 1,060,832 3,677 62,500 28,000 1,155,009 
 
Impairment testing 
 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash generating units: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Data subscriptions segment  1,060,832 1,060,832 
    
  1,060,832 1,060,832 

 
The recoverable amount of the consolidated entity’s goodwill has been determined by a value-in-use calculation using a 
discounted cash flow model, based on a 12 month projection period approved by management and extrapolated for a 
further 5 years by using key assumptions.  
 
Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating units is most sensitive. 
 
The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model in relation to the goodwill associated to the 
data subscription service, the cash generating unit; 
 
a.15% (2013: 15%) pre-tax discount rate; and, 
b.3% (2013: 2.5%) per annum projected revenue growth rate. 
 
With respect to cash flow projections for goodwill, growth rates of 3% have been factored into valuation models for the 
next 5 years on the basis of management’s expectations regarding the Group’s continued ability to capture market share 
from competitors due to a wider acceptance of the renewed product offering. The rates used incorporate an allowance 
for inflation.  
 
Pre-tax discount rates of 15% have been used in all models. The goodwill is considered to be sensitive to these 
assumptions and are carried in the statement of financial position at a written-down value of $1,060,832. 
 
No impairment has been recognised in respect of goodwill at the end of the reporting period. Should the projected 
revenue figures be lower than 27% of budgeted figures incorporated in value-in-use calculations, an impairment loss 
would be recognised up to the maximum carrying amount of $1,060,832. 
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Note 12. Intangible assets (continued) 
 
Based on the above, Management is satisfied that there are no indicators of impairment to the current carrying value of 
goodwill.  
 
Websites 
Websites are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of two to five years. 
 
ASX membership 
The cost of acquiring D2MX Pty Ltd’s market participant status of the Australian Securities Exchange is being amortised 
over a period of five years commencing from the time that the Group’s existing third-party execution facilities were 
transferred to D2MX Pty Ltd in August 2013. 
 
Client list 
The client list was acquired by the Group from the MINC Financial Services group on 19 April 2011.  The client list has a 
finite life considered to be five years, amortised on a straight-line basis. 
 
 
Note 13. Trade and Other Payables 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
Current    
Trade payables  1,760,589 1,705,165 
Other payables  116,608 174,273 
Accruals  447,887 450,910 
    
  2,325,084 2,330,347 

    
 
Note 14. Borrowings 
 
Current 
 

   

Related party loan  540,000  
  540,000 - 

    
    
Loan comprised of a loan facility of $540,000 under the terms of a Secured Loan Agreement between the Company and 
Mr and Mrs Stirling, signed on 3 June 2014.  Interest is payable at a rate of 12.0 percent per annum. The loan remains 
outstanding and repayable at the end of the financial year. 
 
Further information about this loan is included as part of Note 21 – Financial Instruments, Note 24 – Contingent Liabilities 
and Note 26 – Related Party Transactions.  
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Note 15. Deferred Income 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
Current    
Deferred income  229,290 263,903 
    
 
Deferred income, classified as current, consists of customer subscription fees paid in advance for the provision of 
services expected to be earned over the next 12 months. 
 
 
Note 16. Employee Benefits 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
Current    
Liability for annual leave  62,617 86,224 
Liability for long service leave  83,835 98,951 
    
  146,452 185,175 
 
Non-current    
Liability for long service leave  23,887 23,047 
    
  23,887 23,047 
    
    
Note 17. Equity - contributed 
    
647,583,002 (2013: 442,311,012) 
Fully Paid Ordinary shares 

 
24,411,676 23,418,956 

      
  24,411,676 23,418,956 
 
 
Movements in ordinary share capital 
 
Details Date No of shares Issue price $ 
Balance 30-Jun-13 442,311,012  23,418,956 
Issue of shares 30-Oct-13 72,771,990 $0.01 727,720 

Total share capital   515,083,002  24,146,676 

Convertible note 30-Jun-14 132,500,000 $0.002 265,000 

Balance of issued shares 30-Jun-14 647,583,002  24,411,676 
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Note 17. Equity – contributed (continued) 
 
 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared, and, in the event of winding up the company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
shares held. 
 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.  The shares 
have no par value. 
 
Convertible notes 
 
During the financial year, the group entered into convertible loan agreements with related parties. The convertible loan 
will convert into ordinary shares of the group at the share price of $0.002 as part of the rights issue dated 4 July 2014. At 
30 June 2014 the loan amount of $265,000 had not been repaid and accordingly was classified as equity at 30 June 
2014.  
 
Capital risk management 
 
The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that it can provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The consolidated entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as 
value adding relative to the current parent entity’s share price at the time of the investment.  The consolidated entity is 
not actively pursuing additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing business in 
order to maximise synergies. 
 
The consolidated entity is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these are given priority in all 
capital risk management decisions.  There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the 
financial year. 
 
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2013 Annual Report. 
 
 
Note 18. Equity – reserves 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Share based payments  46,384 46,384 
    
  46,384 46,384 

    
Movement:    
Share based payments    
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  46,384 46,384 
Option expense  - - 
    
Balance at the end of the financial year  46,384 46,384 
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Note 19. Equity – dividends 
 
Dividends    
No dividends have been paid or declared during 2014 (2013: Nil)    
    
Franking credits    
Franking credits available at the reporting date based on a tax 
rate of 30% 

  
1,530,541 

 
1,422,418 

 
 
Note 20. Financial risk management 
 
Financial risk management objectives 
The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, 
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  The consolidated entity’s overall risk management program 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the consolidated entity.  The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk 
to which it is exposed.  These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate and other price risks and 
ageing analysis for credit risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (“finance”) under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors (‘Board’).  These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated entity and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits.  Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the 
consolidated entity’s operating units.  Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 
 
Market risk 
Foreign currency risk 
The consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.  
 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting.  
 
The consolidated entity has not entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to protect against exchange rate 
movements.  The directors are of the view that the cost of hedging the consolidated entity’s short-term foreign exchange 
exposure outweighs the risk of adverse currency movements. 
 
The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the reporting date was as follows. 
 
 Assets Liabilities 
 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $ $ $ $ 
Consolidated     
US dollars 145 572 - - 
  

145 
 

572 
 

- 
 

- 
.  
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Note 20. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
The consolidated entity had net assets denominated in foreign currencies of $137 (assets $137 less liabilities $nil) as at 
30 June 2014 (2013: $572, assets $572 less liabilities $nil). 
 
Price risk 
As at the 30 June 2014 the company held financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. The fair value assets 
relate to $119,464 of Sino Australia Oil and Gas Limited (SAO) which were purchased on market. In addition the 
company holds Sino Australia Oil and Gas Limited (SAO) escrowed shares to the value of $170,440. These shares are in 
escrow until 20 December 2015. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The consolidated entity is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
The consolidated entity’s borrowings outstanding totalled $540,000 (2013: $nil), the borrowing is a principal and interest 
payment loan.  Monthly cash outlays are approximately $5,400 (2013: $nil) per month as required to service the interest 
payments which are at a fixed rate at 12.0 percent per annum.  
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated entity basis.  Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the consolidated entity.  The Board of Directors has established a 
credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the  
reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, 
as disclosed in the statement of financial position and note to the financial statements.   The consolidated entity does not 
hold any collateral.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and 
cash equivalents) to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring actual 
and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
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Note 20. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following table details the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities.  
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the financial liabilities are required to be paid.  The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed 
as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of 
financial position.  
 

 Weighted average 
interest rate 

% 

1 year or less Between 1 
and 2 
years 

Between 2 
and 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2014       
       
Non-derivatives       
Non-interest 
bearing 

      

Trade payables - 1,795,588 - - - 1,795,588 
       
Interest bearing       
Other loans 12.00 540,000 - - - 540,000 
       
  2,335,588 - - - 2,335,588 
 
2013       
       
Non-derivatives       
Non-interest bearing       
Trade payables - 1,705,165 - - - 1,705,165 
       
Interest bearing       
Other loans - - - - - - 

       
  1,705,165 - - - 1,705,165 

 
Trade payables are due normally within 60 days.  The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to 
occur significantly earlier than disclosed. 
 
Fair value measurement 
The following table details the consolidated entity’s fair values of financial instruments categorised by the following levels: 
Level 1: Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date. 
Level 2: Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3: Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
2014       
       
Assets       
Listed ordinary shares   289,752 - - 289,752 
Unlisted ordinary shares   - - 152 152 
Unlisted options   - - - - 
       
   289,752 - 152 289,904 
 

       
2013       
       
Assets       
Listed ordinary shares   - - - - 
Unlisted ordinary shares   - - 152 152 
Unlisted options   - - - - 
       
   - - 152 152 
 
There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 
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Note 20. Financial Rick Management (continued) 
 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial assets reflect their fair value.  The carrying amounts of trade 
receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  The fair 
value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market interest 
rate that is available for similar financial instruments. 

 
Note 21. Key management personnel disclosures 
 
Directors 
The following persons were directors of MDS Financial Group Limited during the financial year: 
 
  
Mr Wayne Noel Johnson  Executive Chairman (resigned 21 January 2014 ) 
Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo Independent, Non-Executive Director  
Mr Jamie Schwartz Executive Chairman (resigned 21 January 2014 ) 

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 16 April 2014, resigned 23 May 
2014) 

Mr Peter Stirling  Non – Executive Director and Chairman (appointed Chairman 21 January 2014) 
Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon Executive Director 
  
 
Other key management personnel 
The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities 
of the consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year: 
 
Mr Craig Bradley Foley Chief Information Officer 
Mr Andrew Guy Phillips Acting Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

 
Remuneration 
The aggregate remuneration made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated 
entity is set out below: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Short-term employee benefits  623,545 774,860 
Post employment benefits  14,560 30,857 
    
  638,105 805,717 
 
 
Receivable from and payable to key management personnel 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to remuneration arrangements with key 
management personnel: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Trade payables to Noblemen Ventures Pty Ltd (director-related 
entity of Mr Wayne Johnson) 

  
- 

 
141,350 

Trade payables to Symon Financial Services Pty Ltd (director 
related entity of Mr Richard Symon 

  
- 

 
96,257 

Trade payables to Merkin Pastoral Holdings Pty Ltd (director 
related entity of Mr Sean Rothsey) 
Trade payables to Sarah Guy (Company secretary-related entity 
of Mr Andrew Phillips) 

  
- 
 

55,000 

 
18,413 

 
71,892 

    
 
Related party transactions 
Related party transactions are set out in note 26 
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Note 22. Remuneration of auditors 
 
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by HallChadwick (2013: 
HallChadwick), the auditor of the company, and its related practices: 
 
   Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Audit services    
Audit or review of the financial report  62,000 47,000 
Audit of Australian Financial Services Licences  9,000 9,000 
    
Other services    
Tax services  4,500 4,500 
   

75,500 
 

60,500 
    
 
Note 23. Contingent liabilities 
 
Contingent liabilities 
The consolidated entity has given bank guarantees as at 30 June 2014 of $nil (2013: $74,673) to its landlord and 
provided a credit card facility guarantee to its bankers of $25,000 (2013: $25,000). 
 

 
Note 24. Capital and leasing commitments 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Less than one year  264,821 238,569 
Between one and five years  66,580 279,771 
More than five years   2,280 
    
  331,401 520,620 

    
 
Commitments relate to the lease of the Group’s Melbourne premises and computer data centre, which will cease in 
September 2014.  The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a five-year term, with rent payable monthly in 
advance.  Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreement require that minimum lease payments shall be 
increased by 4% per annum.  A five year operational lease of a printer; leased at a flat rate commenced in January 2013. 
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Note 25. Related Party Transactions 
 
Parent entity 
MDS Financial Group Limited is the parent entity and ultimate controlling entity. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 29. 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 22 and the remuneration report in the directors’ 
report. 
 
Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties: 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Payment of commission to    

 
- 

 
 

- 
Payment of commission to Nobelman Ventures Pty Ltd (director 
related entity of Wayne Johnson) 
 

  
180,194 

 
17,500 

Payment of service to Wanted Marketing Consultancy (director 
related entity of Wayne Johnson) 
 

 15,000 - 

Payment of commission to Symon Financial Services Pty Ltd 
(director related entity of Richard Symon) 
 

  
123,333 

 
19,998 

Payment of commission to Jamie Khoo 
 

 24,000 24,000 

Payment of commission to Hartford Vantage (Australia) Pty Ltd 
(non executive director related entity of Jamie Khoo) 
 

 402,000 - 

Payment of commission to Equinex Investments Limited (non 
executive director related entity of Jamie Khoo) 
 

 114,250 - 

Payment of commission to EMD Enterprises (non executive 
director related entity of Peter Stirling) 
 

 39,000 - 

Payment of commission to Jamber Investments Pty Ltd (non 
executive director related entity of Jamie Schwartz) 
 

 3,000 - 

    
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
There were no receivables from or payable to related parties at reporting date in relation to transactions with related 
parties detailed above. 
 
Loans from related parties 
At the 30 June 2014 there was a loan agreement with Peter Stirling for the loan amount of $540,000. The loan has 
interest payable at 12% per annum. 
 
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates 
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Note 26. Parent entity information 
 
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
 
  Parent 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Loss after tax  (331,537) (454,140) 
    
Total comprehensive income  (331,537) (454,140) 

    
 
Statement of financial position 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Total current assets  107,037 125,769 
    
Total assets  1,467,869 1,486,601 
    
Total current liabilities  1,750,756 650,402 
    
Total liabilities  1,799,406 979,389 
    
Net Assets  (331,537) 507,212 

    
Equity    
 Contributed equity  56,044,227 55,097,891 
 Reserves  46,384 46,384 
 Accumulated losses  (56,422,148) (54,637,063) 
    
Total equity  (331,537) 507,212 

 
Contingent liabilities 
Details of the parent entity’s contingent liability arising in relation to its obligations under the terms of a Secured Loan 
Agreement with Mr and Mrs Stirling, are set out in Note 12.  The parent entity had no other contingent liabilities at 30 
June 2014. 
 
Capital commitments – Property, Plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property plant and equipment as at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013.  
 
Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, 
except for the following: 

• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment. 
• Investments in associated are accounted for at cost, less any impairment. 
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Note 27. Subsidiaries 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
 
 
 
Name of entity 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Percentage Owned 
(%) 

  2014 2013 
 Subsidiaries of MDS Financial Group Limited    
 Bourse Data Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 The Cube Financial Group Limited Australia 100 100 
 D2MX Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 Market Data Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 MDSnews.com Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 MDS Financial Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
    
 Subsidiaries of MDSnews.com Pty Ltd.    
 Trader Dealer Online Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 
MDSnews Australia Pty Ltd was sold in the period.  
 
 
Note 28. Events occurring after the reporting date 
 
Since 30 June 2014 the following matters and circumstances have arisen that will or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future 
financial years. 
 

• On 4 July 2014 the company undertook and completed, a non-renounceable rights issue (“Rights Issue”) which 
resulted in the take up of 515,083,001 shares at $0.002 to the value of $1,030,166. The take up of Rights Issue 
by existing shareholders (73.3% acceptance rate of eligible holders) resulted in shares being issued on 11 July 
2014 and the shares associated with the shortfall (26.7% of the total offer) being issued on 19 August 2014. 
 

• Under the ASX listing rule 7.1, 154,524,900 new shares have been issued at $0.004 raising a total of $618,100. 
On the 27 August 2014 a total of 115,000,000 new shares were issued raising $460,000 and on the 26 
September 2014 a total of 39,524,900 shares were issued raising $158,100.  
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Note 29. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash from operating activities 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
(a) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flow used in 
operating activities 

   

    
Loss for the year  (1,260,395) (1,598,504) 
    
Non-cash flows in operating loss    
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  73,964 84,617 
Fair value adjustment on investments  (2,989) 241,136 
Investments acquired for non-cash consideration  (160,823) - 
    
Changes in working capital and provisions    
    
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  114,892 (241,970) 
Decrease/(increase) in other assets  138,324 139,398 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other creditors  119,735 533,069 
Decrease in deferred income  (34,614) (111,450) 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions for employee benefits  (37,882) (28,342) 
    
Net cash used in operating activities  (1,049,785) (982,046) 
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Note 30. Earnings per share 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $ $ 
    
Earnings per share from continuing operations    
Loss after income tax  1,260,395 1,598,504 
    
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of MDS 
Financial Group Limited 

  
1,260,395 

 
1,598,504 

    
    
  Number Number 
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share 

  
516,857,210 

 
442,331,012 

Adjustments for calculation of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share: 

   

 Options*  - - 
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
diluted earnings per share 

  
516,857,210 

 
442,331,012 

    
    
  Cents Cents 
    
Basic earnings per share  (0.244) (0.465) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.244) (0.465) 
    

 
*Options to acquire ordinary shares are not considered dilutive as the exercise of the options would decrease the basic 
loss per share. 

Note 31. Share based payments 
 
A share option plan has been established by the consolidated entity and approved by shareholders at a general meeting, 
whereby the consolidated entity may, at the discretion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, grant options 
over ordinary shares in the parent entity to certain key management personnel of the consolidated entity.  The options, 
which vest immediately, are issued for nil consideration and are granted in accordance with performance guidelines 
established by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
 
Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan: 
 
2014        
Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
18/05/11 30/06/13 $0.05 12,500,000 - - 12,500,000 - 
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Note 31. Share based payments (continued) 
 
2013        
Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
18/05/11 30/06/13 $0.05 - 12,500,000 - - 12,500,000 
27/11/08 27/11/10 $0.05 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 

        
 
Options expired by year end 2014 (2013: 0 years remaining). 
 
Employee share scheme 
A share plan has been established by the consolidated entity and approved by shareholders at a general meeting, 
whereby the consolidated entity may issue shares to employees for no cash consideration.  All Australian resident 
permanent employees (excluding executive directors) who have been continuously employed by the group for a period of 
at least one year are eligible to participate in the scheme.  Employees may elect not to participate in the scheme. 
 
The scheme is administered by Trinity Management Group Pty Ltd, an unrelated third-party.  The scheme’s Trustee is 
Trinity Management Pty Ltd. 
 
Shares issued by the trust to the employees may be acquired on-market prior to the issue or issued as new shares by 
the parent entity. 
 
Under the scheme, eligible employees may be granted up to $1,000 worth of fully paid ordinary shares in MDS Financial 
Group Limited annually for no cash consideration. The market value of shares issued under the scheme, measured as 
the weighted average price at which the company’s shares are traded on the ASX during the week up to and including 
the grant, is recognised as part of employee benefit costs in the period the shares are granted. 
 
Offers under the scheme are at the discretion of the company. 
 
Shares issued under the scheme may not be sold until the earlier of three years after issue or cessation of employment 
by the group.  In all other respects the shares rank equally with other fully-paid ordinary shares on issue (refer to note 
17). 
 
The number of shares issued to participants in the scheme is the offer amount divided by the weighted average price at 
which the company’s shares are traded on the ASX during the week up to and including the date of the grant. 
 
Where shares are issued to employees of subsidiaries within the group, the subsidiaries compensate MDS Financial 
Group Limited for the fair value of these shares. 
 
No shares were issued under the plan in 2014 or 2013. 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 
In the directors’ opinion 
 

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 
• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements; 
 

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 259A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Peter Stirling 
Chairman 
 
30 September 2014 
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SHARE HOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report.  This additional information was applicable as at 26 September 2014. 
 
1. Top 20 Shareholders 
 
The names of the twenty largest shareholders of each class of listed securities are listed below: 

Rank Name Units % of Units 
1. MR PETER STIRLING + MRS ROS STIRLING 210,000,000 17.73 
2. BRADLEY JOHN MAGUIRE 100,000,000 8.44 
3. SEQUOIA GROUP HOLDINGS PTY LTD 74,206,104 6.26 

4. MR SCOTT BEETON + MRS SALLY BEETON 
<SCOTT & SALLY BEETON S/F A/C> 71,793,466 6.06 

5. MR RICHARD SYMON 68,666,669 5.80 

6. BURATU PTY LTD <CONNOLLY SUPER FUND 
A/C> 57,000,000 4.81 

7. MR MICHAEL HUMPHREYS 55,720,841 4.70 

8. BEETON ENTERPRISES PTY LTD <THE SCOTT & 
SALLY BEETON A/C> 52,670,566 4.45 

9. KAITONG INDUSTRY CO LTD 33,333,334 2.81 
10. BARODA HILL INVESTMENTS LIMITED 23,407,667 1.98 
11. MR PETER HANSEN 22,150,000 1.87 
12. MR ANDREW PHILLIPS 22,120,000 1.87 
13. GLOBAL EQUITY MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 21,422,361 1.81 
14. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 16,950,391 1.43 
15. MRS XIANFENG YIN 16,666,667 1.41 
16. FINICO PTY LIMITED 16,456,510 1.39 

17. BEETON INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <BEETON 
FAMILY S/F A/C> 16,380,000 1.38 

18. MR YIH PEIR JEFFREY HING + MS BEI KEEN 
WONG 15,000,000 1.27 

19. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) 
LIMITED-GSCO ECA 15,000,000 1.27 

20. HING YIH PEIR JEFFREY + WONG BEI KEEN 15,000,000 1.27 
Totals: Top 20 holders of ISSUED CAPITAL 923,944,576 77.99 
Total Remaining Holders Balance 260,746,326 22.01 

 
 
 
 
2. Distribution of equity securities 
 
Analysis of ordinary shareholders by size of holding: 
 
 

Range Total holders 
1 - 1,000 27 

1,001 - 5,000 6 

5,001 - 10,000 14 

10,001 - 100,000 116 

100,001 - 999,999,999 123 

1,000,000,000 - 9,999,999,999 0 

Rounding   

Total 286 
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3. Restricted Securities 
 
There are no restricted securities on issue. 
 
 
4. Voting Rights 
 
The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares, set out in the Company’s Constitution are: 
 

(a) at meetings of members, each member is entitled to vote in person or by proxy, attorney or representative; 
and, 

 
(b) on a show of hands, every person present who is a member has one vote, and on a poll every member 

present has a vote for each fully paid share owned. 
 
There are no voting rights attached to un-listed ordinary shares or unlisted options, voting rights will be attached to un-
listed ordinary shares once issued and to options upon exercise. 
 
 
5. On-market Buy Back 
 
There is no current on-market buy back. 
 
 
6. Review of Operations 
 
A review of operations for the Group is set out on pages 5 to 8 of this annual report, commencing with the Chairman’s 
Report. 
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Directory 
 
Company Directors  
Mr Peter John Stirling 
Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo 

Chairman 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon 
 

Executive Director 

Company Secretary  
Mr Andrew Guy Phillips  
  
Registered Office  
Level 37, Rialto South Tower 
525 Collins Street 
Melbourne   VIC   3000 
Telephone: + 61 3 9617 0600 
Facsimile: + 61 3 9617 0699 
 

 

Share Registry  
Computershare Limited 
Yarra Falls 
452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford   VIC   3067 
 

 

Bankers  
National Australia Bank 
330 Collins Street 
Melbourne   VIC   3000 

 

  
Auditor  
HallChadwick 
Level 10, 575 Bourke Street 
Melbourne   VIC   3000 

 

  
Securities Exchange The company’s securities are quoted on the official list of the 

Australian Securities Exchange Limited, the home branch 
being Melbourne. 
 

ASX Code 
 
 

MWS 
 
MDS Financial Group Limited is a public company limited by 
shares incorporated and domiciled in Australia 
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